COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

State of Washington Respondent

v.

CATHERINE ANNE BETTS

Appellant

42519-0-II

On Appeal from the Superior Court of Clallam County Superior Court Cause number 10-1-00121-1

The Honorable S. Brooke Taylor

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jordan B. McCabe, WSBA No. 27211 Attorney for Appellant, Catherine A. Betts

MCCABE LAW OFFICE PO Box 46668. Seattle, WA 98146 206-453-5604•mccabejordanb@gmail.com

CONTENTS

I.	Authorities C	ited ii
II.	Assignments	of Error and Issues vii–viii
III.	Summary of	the Case1
IV.	Statement of	the Case
V.	Argument	
	1.	Appellant could not receive an impartial jury in Clallam County

A. Assignments of Error

- 1. By denying a change of venue, the court violated Appellant's rights under the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. 1, §§ 3 and 22 to a fair trial by jury that was not composed entirely of victims of the offenses with which she was charged.
- 2. The court violated the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments by admitting statements by Appellant that were obtained in circumstances that were inherently coercive.
- 3. Appellant was convicted of filing fraudulent tax returns based on insufficient evidence in violation of the Sixth Amendment and Const. Art. 1, § 22.
- 4. The trial court's instruction on the elements of filing a fraudulent tax return relieved the State of its burden to prove every element beyond a reasonable doubt and violated the Sixth Amendment and Const. Art. 1, § 22.
- 5. The erroneous fraudulent tax return instruction constituted a judicial comment on the evidence in violation of the Sixth Amendment and Wash. Const. Art. 1, § 22.
- 6. The trial court erroneously allowed the State to aggregate multiple alleged thefts into a single first degree theft count without regard to the statute's plain language limiting aggregation to alleged third degree thefts, thus permitting Appellant to be convicted of first degree theft on insufficient evidence contrary to the Sixth Amendment and Const. Art. 1, § 22.
- 7. Appellant was convicted of first degree theft on evidence that was insufficient to prove that any theft occurred.

- 8. The evidence was insufficient to link Appellant to the alleged offenses.
- 9. The State's only evidence of money laundering consisted of triple hearsay that was inadmissible and also violated the Confrontation Clauses of the Sixth Amendment and Wash. Const. Art. 1, § 22.
- 10. Appellant's convictions for both theft and money laundering violated the Double Jeopardy clauses of the Sixth Amendment and Const. Art. 1, § 22.
- 11. The prosecutor committed reversible misconduct.
- 12. The sentencing court penalized Appellant for exercising her trial rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Const. Art. 1, § 22.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Was it possible for Appellant to receive an impartial jury in Clallam County?
- 2. Were Appellant's statements to supervisors inherently coerced under the *Garrity* doctrine?¹
- 3. Under the plain language of RCW 82.32.290(2)(a)(iii) was the evidence insufficient to prove Appellant filed a fraudulent tax return?
- 4. Did the jury instruction on filing a false return relieve the State of its burden by substituting undisputed extraneous elements for an essential element the State could not prove?
- 5. Did the judge comment on the evidence by presenting alleged facts as law in the jury instructions?

 $^{^{\}scriptscriptstyle 1}$ Garrity v. New Jersey, 385 U.S. 493, 496, 87 S. Ct. 616, 17 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1967).

- 6. Did the court erroneously permit the State to aggregate alleged offenses for first degree theft?
- 7. Was the admissible evidence insufficient to prove theft in any degree?
- 8. Was the evidence insufficient to link Appellant to any alleged thefts?
- 9. Was the money laundering evidence inadmissible both under the hearsay rules and the Confrontation Clauses of the Sixth Amendment and art 1, § 22?
- 10. Did the multiple convictions for both theft and money laundering violate Double Jeopardy?
- 11. Did the prosecutor commit reversible misconduct by inviting Appellant to admit guilt during trial so as to receive a more lenient sentence?
- 12. Did the sentencing court penalize Appellant for not admitting guilt but exercising her trial rights?

III. SUMMARY OF THE CASE

Appellant, Catherine Anne Betts, asks the Court to reverse her convictions for one count of first degree theft, one count of money laundering, and 19 counts of filing a fraudulent tax return.

Ms. Betts challenges the sufficiency of the State's evidence to prove the offenses charged, and claims other due process violations denied her a fair trial.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Catherine Anne Betts, worked in the Clallam County
Treasurer's Office from 2001 to 2009. RP 1112. Beginning in 2003, she
was the cashier. RP 1112-13. One of the functions of the Treasurer's
Office was to collect Real Estate Excise Taxes, referred to as REET,
payable by the seller whenever real estate was sold. RP 1113.

The tax payer would fill out an affidavit and bring it, with the deed and a check or cash in the amount of tax due, to the counter at the Treasurer's Office. There, one of six employees would stamp a number on the affidavit, using a machine that was supposed to dispense consecutive numbers. RP 1114-15. "Any number" of people in the office accepted payments and put them in the cashier's box. RP 692. Likewise,

anyone in the office could have received an affidavit and stamped a number on it. RP 739, 747.

The numbering machine was highly unreliable. It frequently jammed and either skipped numbers or stamped two numbers. RP 682, 698, 750, 1115. Management were unaware of the extent of this problem and were unconcerned about it. RP 796, 798.

The affidavit number was noted on the deed, which the tax payer then took to another county department to register. RP 682-83. Checks were deposited in a basket at the counter with an attached copy of the affidavit. Cash was placed in Betts's cash drawer. RP 1119-20. Betts rarely took payments herself; the other four staffers did. RP 1119.

Everyone in the office, including all five who worked the counter and received REET payments, used Betts's password when they handled a REET transaction or balanced the books in her absence. RP 726, 783, 784, 806. Moreover, Betts's spreadsheets were accessible to everyone in the office even without her password. RP 786. This included the master spreadsheet used to prepare the monthly reports that form the basis for Counts III-XXI. RP 1190.

At the end of each day, Ms. Betts balanced the cash and checks received with the total amounts on the affidavits and recorded each REET

transaction and the total for the day on an EXCEL² spreadsheet. RP 1130. She also noted the daily total on a different spreadsheet, along with the daily totals for all sources of revenue handled by the Treasurer's Office.

The Treasurer's Accountant, Anne Stallard, used this master spreadsheet to prepare monthly reports, including a monthly REET report that was supposed to be sent to the Department of Revenue, along with the tax collected. RP 778. The State offered no evidence that the reports underlying the 19 false reporting counts were ever filed. RP 778-79, 802. A signature on the report was supposed to indicate that the report was in its final form and was filed. RP 780. All but five of the reports were unsigned, however. Ex. 1-19; RP 721, 795-96. There was no other mark on the face of any monthly report from which it could be discerned that it was ever mailed. RP 778-79, 802.

The Treasurer's Office handled anywhere from a few hundred to hundreds of thousands to several million dollars in cash and checks every day. RP 677. It was not unusual to process up to \$100,000.00 in cash in a single day. RP 756. Yet Ms. Stallard had never received any training as a supervisor, nor had anyone at the Treasurer's Office issued her guidelines for overseeing the handling of large amounts of cash. RP 783. Stallard was supposed to exercise some oversight in the course of preparing the

² A widely used copyrighted spreadsheet program.

monthly REET report. RP 778. But Stallard never looked at Betts's daily spreadsheets. Instead, she had instructed Betts to transfer her daily REET totals to the master spreadsheet and total them up so that Stallard could simply transfer the totals into the Dept. of Revenue report. RP 751; 796. Stallard testified that she could not have noticed any skipped row numbers because the row-number column from the daily REET spreadsheet did not appear on the monthly master print-out that she was working with. RP 789. In other words, the cashiers, including Betts, were effectively unsupervised. RP 777-78.

Clallam County's elected Treasurer, Judy Scott. believed Ms.

Stallard was overseeing the cashiers' work in general and Betts's in particular. RP 718, 774. Chief Deputy Treasurer Teresa Marchi also thought Stallard was Betts's supervisor. RP 809. Stallard, however, was unaware that she had any oversight responsibility. RP 86, 774.

Accordingly, the daily REET spreadsheet entries were never checked. RP 742, 776, 788.

At lunch time on May 19, 2009, Betts still had not obtained a daily balance from the previous day. RP 1137. This was highly unusual. RP 75, 104, 117. While Ms. Betts was away at lunch, Ms. Stallard reviewed Betts's work and discovered two things. First, a \$300 error in an entry in

 $^{\rm 3}$ The evidence at the suppression hearing was that Stallard was Betts's supervisor. RP 115.

the check book explained the balancing problem. Second, Stallard found an affidavit for an excise tax payment of \$877.⁴ RP 76-77, 130, 1140. Another employee found two affidavits stamped with the same number. RP 104. When Betts returned from lunch, Stallard asked her about the \$877 check that should have been attached to the affidavit. RP 130, 1141.

Betts told Stallard the check might be in the County Auditor's office and asked Stallard to accompany her down the hall to look for it. RP 78. Betts stopped outside the auditor's office and started crying. Stallard asked her, "What have you done?" RP 78, 136. At trial, Stallard said she merely inquired what was wrong when Betts started crying. RP 134, 640. But then she consulted her notes to be sure she got the quote right. She then repeated that her question to Betts was: "What have you done?" RP 763. Betts told Stallard about stealing the \$877 that had appeared in her cash drawer with no paperwork. RP 79. 81, 669. Stallard suspected criminal behavior and assumed Betts had stolen money even before she asked her about it and elicited the confession. RP 93, 157.

Ashamed, Betts asked Stallard to let her leave immediately, and asked Stallard to retrieve her purse from the Treasurer's Office. RP 81. 94, 136. Stallard refused. RP 137. Stallard told Betts she could not leave, but must immediately speak with Treasurer Scott, the supervisor of both

⁴ The exact amount was either \$877.20 or \$877.60. RP 130, 760.

Betts and Stallard. RP 81, 94, 136. Stallard spent 5-10 minutes insisting that Betts explain to the Treasurer, as required by county policy. RP 94-95. The policy was admitted as Exhibit 1. RP 101.

Finally, Stallard took Betts to Scott's office where she was questioned by the two supervisors. RP 82, 95. Judy Scott also asked Betts what had happened. Betts answered because Stallard and Scott were her supervisors and she knew she could be fired if she did not. RP 138, 140, 146-48.

Stallard said that Betts was not allowed to leave because it was necessary to notify the proper authorities. She later testified that she was also concerned because Betts had said she wanted to kill herself. RP 83.

Scott left Stallard to guard Betts and went in search of Personnel Director Marge Upham. CP 97, 109. Stallard again prevented Betts from leaving. RP 95. Scott also voiced concerns that Betts might bolt and try to flee. RP 109. Both Stallard and Scott maintained that their primary concern was for Betts's safety. RP 99, 109. Regardless, Ms. Scott was quite clear that Ms. Betts was not free to leave. RP 119-20, 153. And, Stallard admitted she was standing in front of the door but denied blocking it. RP 121.

Scott took Betts by the arm and walked her to Upham's office. RP 124,141. There, Betts was questioned by Scott, Ms. Upham, and another

personnel officer, Iva Burk. RP 125. All three questioned Betts. RP 142. Following the interview with Upham, Scott and Burk, Scott decided that Betts should talk to a lawyer. Betts did not have counsel, so Scott contacted a lawyer for her. RP 110. Scott accompanied Betts to the lawyer's office and remained there until the lawyer told her to leave. RP 126, 144.

Meanwhile, Ms. Stallard examined some daily REET spreadsheets and discovered a series of hidden rows. RP 770. It is a simple matter to hide a row in an EXCEL spreadsheet that contains a negative dollar amount. EXCEL's automatic adding feature will subtract the hidden entry and display a total that appears to balance with the receipts. The only indication of the hidden row is a skipped number in the row number column on the far left of the entry. RP 773.

The State produced no evidence that the monthly REET reports were ever mailed to the Department of Revenue. Dating and signing a report was supposed to indicate that it was in final form and had been mailed. RP 681. But, for the 29-month period ending in May, 2009, the State was able to produce only 19 monthly REET reports that were dated. RP 679. Of these, only five were signed. Ex. 1-19. RP 721. There was no mark on the face of any monthly report from which it could be

discerned that it was ever mailed. RP 778-79, 802. These 19 REET reports are the basis for the 19 counts of filing a false tax return. RP 1190.

James E. Brittain, Director of Special Investigations for the State Auditor's Office performed a forensic audit of the REET records from 2004 to 2009. RP 828. Mr. Brittain claimed to have discovered shortfalls totaling \$617,000. RP 658.

Detective Jason Viada of the Port Angeles Police Department also did an investigation. RP 1017. He obtained warrants for Betts's accounts with two banks. Bank of America and Columbia Bank (American Marine). RP 1020. Det. Viada prepared summaries of the information he extracted from these bank accounts. RP 1025. He passed his summaries along to the Attorney General's office, where an anonymous functionary prepared summaries of Viada's summaries. RP 1024. The evidence offered in court was the A.G.'s summaries. The trial court admitted these over a defense hearsay objection. RP 1026.

Viada found what he considered excessive cash deposits over and above Betts's County earnings. RP 1027-28. Betts explained that she and her husband used her earnings for household expenses and deposited his earnings (around \$40,000.00 per year) into savings. RP 1148. Mr. Betts then would give his wife cash as she needed it, usually around \$1,000 per month, which she deposited. RP 1153. Ms. Betts had also deposited

almost \$9,000 after cashing out an IRA. RP 1146. The couple had refinanced their house a couple of times. RP 1154-55. For some years, Ms. Betts had additional income from a second job. RP 1029. And she frequently deposited cash advances from credit card. RP 1150.

The State charged Betts with first degree theft for the aggregated shortages. Count I; money laundering by means of depositing stolen funds into her personal bank account, Count II; and 19 counts of filing a false tax return in violation of RCW 82. Counts III-XXI, based on monthly Department of Revenue reports that Stallard prepared between 2007 and 2009. RP 1190.

At the outset, the defense requested a change of venue. RP 63.

The trial court said it would deny the motion, believing it would be able to seat an impartial jury. RP 65. The case remained in Clallam County.

Betts moved to suppress her statements to Stallard and Scott because her interviews with them were inherently coercive. RP 69-71. This was due to a County personnel policy that required employees to fully cooperate with inquiries into suspected wrong-doing and to answer all questions from supervisors on penalty of termination. *Id.*; Ex. 1. The court denied the motion, and admitted the statements. RP 167.

During the trial, defense counsel challenged basing the first-degree theft count on an aggregation of amounts exceeding those constituting

third degree theft. Counsel cited to the statutory definition of "value" whereby transactions that individually would constitute third degree theft may be aggregated in one count in determining degree. RCW 9A.56.010(21)(c).⁵ Counsel argued that only amounts less than \$250 could be aggregated into a single count of first degree theft. RP 924-25; RP 961. The State thought this applied solely to organized retail thefts. RP 962. The court declined to disturb the first-degree theft charge.

Betts was tried by a Clallam County jury and convicted on all counts. CP 19-20.

The number of counts boosted her offender score from 0 to 9. CP 21. Accordingly, the standard range was 43-57 months on count I and 0-12 months on counts II – XXI. CP 21. Betts received an exceptional sentence of 144 months: the statutory maximum 120 months on Count I; a top-of-the-range 12 months on Count II, consecutive to Count I and concurrent with 12-month sentences on Counts III–XXI. CP 21-22.

V. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT DENIED BETTS A FAIR TRIAL BY AN IMPARTIAL JURY BY DENYING A CHANGE OF VENUE.

Washington courts have reviewed the decision on a motion to change venue for abuse of discretion. *Id.* But the question presented is

⁵ Former RCW 9A.56.010(18)(c). RP 925.

whether the court honored the "time-honored principles" of Due Process enshrined in the Fourteenth Amendment. *Estes v. Texas*, 381 U.S. 532. 535, 85 S. Ct. 1628, 14 L. Ed.2d 543 (1965). The right to trial by an impartial jury is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and article 1, section 22 of the state constitution. The right to a fair trial also is guaranteed by the due process clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments and Wash. Const. art. 1, § 3. *State v. Crudup*, 11 Wn. App. 583, 586-587, 524 P.2d 479, *review denied*, 84 Wn.2d 1012 (1974). As such, the issue is properly before this court even if inartfully presented by defense counel below. RAP 2.5(a)(3).

In criminal proceedings, it is the duty of the court to ensure that the defendant can receive a fair and impartial trial. *State v. Hillman*, 42 Wash. 615, 619, 85 P. 63 (1906). Therefore, a motion to change venue must be granted where the probability of prejudice threatens the right to an impartial jury. *State v. Gilcrist*, 91 Wn.2d 603, 609, 590 P.2d 809 (1979).

Where the likely source of bias is accusatory pretrial publicity, it is non improper for the trial court to postpone its decision on a motion for change of venue until after the voir dire of prospective jurors, as the judge did here. *Crudup*, 11 Wn. App. at 589. In Betts's case, however, pretrial publicity was the least of the venue problems. Rather, a public employee was accused of pilfering over half a million dollars from the purse of the

county's tax paying public. Without further inquiry, it was glaringly obvious that a Clallam County jury pool would consist entirely of the direct victims of the alleged crimes. Accordingly, it was not possible for the court to guarantee Betts's due process right to a fair trial by an unbiased jury without granting Betts's motion to change venue.

Due process requires the granting of a motion for change of venue when a probability of prejudice is shown; actual prejudice need not be shown. *State v. Stiltner*, 80 Wn.2d 47, 491 P.2d 1043 (1971). Where the circumstances involve a probability of prejudice, denying a change of venue is deemed inherently lacking in due process. *Id*.

The decision in *Hillman* is illustrative. In that case, as in *Betts*, a large section of the public had been victimized by the alleged offenses. *Hillman*, 42 Wash. at 618-19. Also as in *Betts*, most of the jury venire had been exposed to accusatory pretrial publicity. As did the judge here, the *Hillman* court seated only jurors who believed they could rise above the publicity and render an unbiased decision. *Id.* Nevertheless, the reviewing court reversed the convictions, concluding that the defendants could not receive a fair trial in King county and it was reversible error to deny a change of venue. *Hillman*, 42 Wash, at 620.

The Selection of Betts's Jury Focused Solely on Pretrial Publicity to the Exclusion of the Impact of the Alleged Crimes on the Entire Community.

The court failed to notice, and defense counsel did not clearly articulate the presence of the 500-pound gorilla in the courtroom in the form of a jury pool consisting entirely of Clallam County taxpayers, which is to say, victims of the alleged crime. Consequently, not a single juror was asked whether the fact he or she was footing the bill for the alleged losses would undermine the presumption of innocence and make it difficult for the juror to give Betts the benefit of the doubt regarding weak links in the State's chain of evidence.

In discussing the impending jury selection procedure, defense counsel recognized that a person whose tax payment was misappropriated could not sit on the jury. RP 202. But counsel failed to argue that all the citizens of Clallam County were equally victims of the alleged misappropriation, not just those who engaged in specific real estate transactions during the relevant time.

2. BETTS'S STATEMENTS TO SUPERVISORS WERE COERCED UNDER THE *GARRITY* DOCRRINE.

In *Garrity v. State of N.J.*, 385 U.S. 493, 87 S. Ct. 616, 17 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1967), several police officers were under investigation for alleged criminal conduct in the course of their employment. During questioning by their supervisors, they were advised that they had the right not to

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