#### NO. 42519-0

#### **COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II** OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

#### CATHERINE ANN BETTS,

Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ROBERT M. MCKENNA Attorney General SCOTT A. MARLOW Assistant Attorney General WSBA #25987 800 5th Avenue, Suite 2000 · Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-2098	012 JUN - 8 PM 3: 43	FILED DURT OF APPEALS DIV I STATE OF WASHINGTON
(206) 389-2098		

TATE JUN 12 C 0

####

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

A litigant cannot remain silent as to claimed error during trial and later, for the first time, urge objections thereto on appeal. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985), *cert. denied*, 475 U.S. 1020, 106 S. Ct 1208, 89 L. Ed. 2d 321 (1986). Failure to object at trial will operate as a waiver of the right to assert that error on appeal. *State v. Fagalde*, 85 Wn.2d 730, 731, 530 P.2d 86 (1975). A defendant who fails to raise a challenge to venue waives that challenge. *State v. Dent*, 123 Wn.2d 467, 479-80, 869 P.2d 392 (1994). The defendant asserts that the trial court erred by failing to grant a change of venue motion; however, no such motion was made by the defense.<sup>1</sup> There is simply no error by the trial court in failing to grant a motion when that motion was never made – the issue is waived.

A possible change of venue motion was actually first raised by the prosecutor. RP 61. After a brief discussion of the issue the trial court instructed the defense counsel that if they decided to bring a motion for change of venue then they should do that and make it part of the record. RP 65. The defense counsel replied "we will". RP 65. After two full days of both individual and group voir dire, however, defense counsel did not make a motion for a change of venue. "A party can not submit to a trial, and then, because the result is adverse, attack the venue." *Schroeder*, 74 Wn.2d 853 at 855, 447 P.2d 604 (1968).

Decisions on motions to change venue are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Crudup*, 11 Wn. App. 583, 524 P.2d 479, *review denied*, 84 Wn.2d 1012 (1974). The trial court in this matter allowed counsel broad range in the questioning of potential jurors, including individual questioning of jurors who indicated any familiarity with the case, or who expressed some hint of bias in the jury questionnaire. This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The decision not to move for a change of venue appears to be a strategic one on the part of the defense team. The defense strategy repeatedly invited the jury to blame the mismanagement of the Clallam County Treasure's Office for the missing funds. This argument is much easier to sustain to a jury would feel a direct connection with that office – a sense that they worked for them. Had the trial court *sua sponte* changed venue it would have thwarted this strategy and become an appealable issue.

questioning took two full court days with selection going over into a third. A review of the record reveals that the trial court was intimately involved in the selection of the jury including questioning potential jurors itself when some indication of bias was suggested. It is certainly not an abuse of discretion for a trial court who has utilized all the tools and safeguards this trial court did to ensure a fair and impartial jury to fail to grant a motion for a change of venue when such a motion was never made. *Dent, supra.* 

# B. Substantial evidence supports the trial court's unchallenged findings and conclusions that the defendant's statements to co-workers were admissible

A challenged finding will be upheld on appeal if the record contains substantial evidence to support that finding. *State v. Broadway*, 133 Wn.2d 118, 130 942 P.2d 363 (1997). Substantial evidence exists where there is sufficient quantity of evidence in the record to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the finding.

State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 128, 857 P.2d 270 (1993). The record here provides just such assurances.

The trial court held an evidentiary hearing to address the defense contention that the statements the defendant made to her co-workers should be suppressed as being the product of coercion under *Garrity v*. *New Jersey*, 385 U.S. 493, 87 S. Ct. 616, 17 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1967).

Following the hearing, the court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 188-193. Error has not been assigned to those findings and conclusions, so they are considered verities on appeal. *In re Riley*, 76 Wn.2d 32, 454 P.2d 820, *cert denied*, 396 U.S. 972, 90 S. Ct. 461, 24 L. Ed. 2d 440 (1969).

The defendant challenged the admission of statements made to coworkers on the grounds that her employment relationship made those statements inherently coerced and therefore inadmissible under *Garrity*. CP 200-209 (Motion to Suppress Statements and Evidence (Garrity)). Following an evidentiary hearing the following Findings Based Upon Facts were entered:

3. The defendant's initial whispered requests that Ms. Stallard not look further into the accounting discrepancy were entirely voluntary and not elicited by any questions.

4. The defendant's statements to Ms. Stallard made outside the Auditor's Office were made after the defendant had begun to cry and were in response to Ms. Stallard asking "What is wrong?".

5. The encounter outside the Auditor's Office was not coercive.

6. The defendant's statements made in Ms. Scott's Office were made in response to Ms. Scott asking "What happened?" when the defendant and Ms. Stallard returned to her office and it appeared that the defendant had been crying.

7. The encounter in Ms. Scott's office was not coercive.

CP 192. The trial court entered Conclusions of Law based upon these

findings that stated:

4. The statements that the defendant made in this case were not the result of such pressures or other coercion such that the statements were rendered involuntary.

5. The statements made by the defendant as outlined above are admissible in the State's case in chief.

In so far as error has not been assigned to these findings and conclusions they are considered verities on appeal, and this Court's inquiry can conclude. *Broadway*, 133 Wn.2d at 130.

Even if the findings and conclusions had been properly challenged on appeal the admission of the statements was still proper. The defendant testified during the evidentiary hearing to determine the admissibility of her statements. The defendant testified that she whispered "Don't look any further." to Ms. Stallard while they were reviewing her work in an effort to assist the defendant in reconciling an accounting error. RP 145. The defendant further testified that she confessed to stealing money from the county to both Ms. Stallard and Ms. Scott. CP 145-146. The defendant admitted that these confessions where made in response to simple questions, and that she was never ordered to answer questions or cooperate in any way. CP 146. The defendant testified that she broke down and started to cry when walking to the auditor's office with Ms. Stallard. CP. 135. At this point Ms. Stallard wanted to know what was going on and the defendant explained to her that she had stolen money from the county. CP 84, 135, 148.

Similarly, the defendant's statements to Ms. Scott were not the result of coercion. The defendant entered Ms. Scott's office visibly shaken and sobbing and she confessed that she had stolen money from the county. CP 106, 119, 148. This confession was either spontaneous as the defendant entered the room or in response to Ms. Scott's question of either "What's wrong?" or "What happened?" in response to the defendant entering her office crying. CP 106-107, 148.

Testimony revealed that the defendant's statements were generally spontaneous or in response to expressions of concern as to why she had suddenly started crying. At no point did Ms. Stallard or Ms. Scott have to "pry answers out of Ms. Betts or force her to answer". CP 84.

The lower court found that these circumstances simply were not coercive, and certainly not to the extent that it had overcome the voluntary nature of the defendant's statements. CP 170. The lower court went on to note that the overwhelming concern of Ms. Stallard and Ms. Scott was for the defendant's safety, not the collection of evidence to be later used in trial. CP 172.

Substantial evidence exists in the record to support the lower court's unchallenged ruling that the defendant's statements were not subject to suppression under *Garrity*. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting those statements.

C. Sufficient evidence was produced to support the defendant's conviction for complicity to filing a false or fraudulent tax return when it was demonstrated that defendant falsified data in a spreadsheet knowing that that false information would be used by another to compile and file a required tax return

Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Kintz*, 169 Wn.2d 537, 551, 238 P.3d 470 (2010). A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences that a can be drawn from that evidence. *Id.* Further, a reviewing court will defer to the trier of fact to resolve issues of conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasive force of the evidence.

State v. Raleigh, 157 Wn. App. 728, 736-37, 238 P.3d 1211 (2010), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1029 (2011).

The defendant was charged with nineteen counts of complicity in the filing of a false or fraudulent tax return. CP 214-227. The relevant portion of the complicity statute reads as follows:

(1) A person is guilty of a crime if it is committed by the conduct of another person for which he or she is legally accountable.

(2) A person is legally accountable for the conduct of another person when:

(a) Acting with the kind of culpability that is sufficient for the commission of the crime, he or she causes an innocent or irresponsible person to engage in such conduct.

RCW 9A.08.020. The crime of filing a false or fraudulent tax return is found in

RCW 82.32.290(2)(a)(iii). It provides that it shall be unlawful for any person to make any false or fraudulent return or false statement in any return, with intent to defraud the state or evade the payment of any tax or part thereof.

Thus, as charged, the State needed to present evidence that the defendant caused an innocent individual to file a false or fraudulent return or make a false statement in any return, with the intent to defraud the state or evade the payment of any tax or part thereof. The returns filed in this case that make up the nineteen counts for which the defendant was found guilty were largely filed by Ms. Stallard with some also being submitted by either Ms. Scott or Ms. Marchi. CP 687, 751, 794-95. These individuals did not know that the defendant was stealing money from the county and utilizing the REET income to help her mask those thefts.

The tax returns that were filed were required to be filed on a monthly basis by RCW 82.45.180 and contained a summary of the REET collections made by the county. CP 728. The information utilized to complete the returns was drawn from a summary prepared by the

defendant. CP 751-52. The defendant testified that she was aware that the figures that she put on the summary would be utilized by Ms. Stallard or in her absence by Ms. Scott or Ms. Marchi to complete the tax return filed with the state. CP 1180. Thus, the defendant passed false information along to innocent individuals (Ms. Stallard, Ms. Scott, and Ms. Marchi) knowing that it would be included in a tax return filed with the Department of Revenue.<sup>2</sup> The defendant's intent in doing so was to hide the fact that she had stolen a portion of the REET payments made to the county thereby defrauding the state of a portion of the collected REET tax it was due.

The defendant also claims that proof was not provided that the documents had been filed with the Department of Revenue, however, testimony revealed that the documents were required to be filed each month and that if they were not filed the Department of Revenue would follow-up with the county. CP 698, 734-36. Further, the county was entitled to a portion of that money and it would be returned to the county

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The defendant argues for the first time on appeal that the required monthly filings are not "tax returns" and cites to a Black's Law Dictionary definition of the term that defines the term as "the form on which an individual, corporation or other entity reports income, deductions, and exemptions and calculates their tax liability." The monthly return filed by the counties reporting their REET income meets this definition squarely. Just as a consumer pays his or her sales tax to a merchant who in turn files a return with the state to report the income and turn over the tax paid to it so to is the case with the sale of real estate. The tax is paid over to the auditor when the sale takes place and the auditor then files the monthly REET tax return to report the income and pay the tax collected.

once the Department of Revenue processed the return. Testimony established that those monies were also consistently received. CP 736. Sufficient evidence was submitted to establish that the returns were in fact filed with the Department of Revenue.

Sufficient evidence was presented to support the defendant's conviction for complicity to file false or fraudulent tax returns.

D. The to convict instruction for the charge of Filing a False or Fraudulent Tax Return was a proper statement of the law as the charge was brought against the defendant and the defendant did not object to its use

CrR 6.15(c) specifically requires the parties to make any objections or exceptions to the jury instructions prior to the trial court utilizing those instructions to advise the jury. The defendant failed to object to jury instruction number 20 before the trial court, thus depriving the trial court of an opportunity to fix the perceived error. CP 1245-46.

A defendant must preserve an issue for appeal by making a timely objection at trial. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 332-33, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). The duty of a party to object and preserve possible error has specific applicability to the failure to challenge a jury instruction. *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). This Court should decline review of this claim of error pursuant to RAP 2.5(a). It is worth noting that review of matters not objected to at trial can be obtained under

RAP 2.5(a)(3) upon a showing of a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right". However, the burden of making such a showing is upon the defendant and an appellant court will not assume such an error when it is not addressed and specifically explained in the briefing. *State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009); *McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d at 333; *Scott*, 110 Wn.2d at 688.

Beyond the failure of the defendant to preserve the error is the question of whether the instruction even constituted error. A jury instruction is proper if it permits the parties to argue their theories of the case, does not mislead the jury and properly informs the jury of the applicable law. State v. Willis, 153 Wn.2d 366, 370, 103 P.3d 1213 (2005), citing Blaney v.Int'l Ass'n of Machinists & Aerospace Workers, Dist. No. 160, 151 Wn.2d 203, 210, 87 P.3d 757 (2004). The instruction in question included the language "or cause to be made" to reflect the fact that the defendant was charged as being complicit in the filing of the false returns. CP 96, 214-227. "Jury instructions are sufficient if they are readily understood and are not misleading to the ordinary mind." State v. Dana, 73 Wn.2d 533, 537, 439 P.2d 403 (1968). Even if a jury instruction is found to be possibly misleading, the complaining party must show prejudice resulted from inclusion of that instruction. State v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 350, 364, 229 P.3d 669 (2010).

This issue was the subject of extensive discussion before the trial court with the trial court ultimately ruling that the charges could go forward on the theory that the defendant had caused an innocent to engage in the criminal activity and was thereby guilty of being complicit in that offense under RCW 9A.08.020. CP 431-32, 643. The trial court's ruling comports with the language of RCW 9A.08.020. Instruction number 20 was a proper statement of the law combining the complicity portion of RCW 9A.08.020 with the offense elements of RCW 82.32.290.

#### E. The Trial Court did not improperly comment on the evidence when it gave an instruction that properly states the law and which was not objected to by the defense

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